Brief Of Appellants Filed 10-18-2022

Page 1 of 52

FILED 10-18-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

No.2022AP790

In the Wisconsin Court of Appeals

District II

JOSH KAUL, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, TONY EVERS AND KATHY KOLTIN BLUMENFELD, PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS,

υ.

WISCONSIN STATE LEGISLATURE, WISCONSIN STATE LEGISLATURE JOINT COMMITTEE ON FINANCE, CHRIS KAPENGA, DEVIN LEMAHIEU, ROBIN VOS, JIM STEINEKE, HOWARD L. MARKLEIN, MARK BORN, DUEY STROEBEL AND AMY LOUDENBECK, DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS.

On Appeal From The Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable Susan M. Crawford, Presiding Case No. 2021CV1314

OPENING BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

MISHA TSEYTLIN

Counsel of Record

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether Section 26 of 2017 Act 369 is unconstitutional in every possible application as to two broad categories of cases: (1) civil-enforcement actions brought under statutes the Attorney General is charged with enforcing, and (2) civil actions the Attorney General prosecutes on behalf of agencies regarding the administration of the statutory programs they execute.

The Circuit Court answered yes.

INTRODUCTION

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in Service Employees International Union, Local 1 ("SEIU") v. Vos, 2020 WI 67, 393 Wis. 2d 38, 946 N.W.2d 35, upheld the facial validity of Section 26 of 2017 Act 369, which gives the Legislature a seat at the settlement table in certain plaintiff-side cases that the Attorney General prosecutes on the State's behalf. Yet, in the present case, Attorney General Josh Kaul and Governor Tony Evers (collectively, "Plaintiffs")—who were parties and lost in SEIU—seek to render SEIU's holding as to Section 26 a dead letter by challenging Section 26's constitutionality under the same theories that failed in SEIU, while "limiting" their challenge to two categories that are so broad that they make up the overwhelming majority of Section 26's coverage. While the Circuit Court ruled for Plaintiffs, it did so by adopting a view of Section 26 that is consistent with the SEIU dissent's approach, but contrary to that adopted by the SEIU majority.

As the *SEIU* majority held, Section 26 is facially constitutional because the Legislature has an interest in at least some settlements that could come within its reach, and that binding holding applies just as much—and, indeed, for the same reasons—to Plaintiffs' challenge here. This Court

¹ Kathy Koltin Blumenfeld, in her official capacity as Secretary of the Department of Administration, is also a Plaintiff.

should thus reverse the Circuit Court's orders and remand for entry of summary judgment in the Legislature's favor.²

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the issues of statewide importance involved in this appeal, the Legislature respectfully contends that this case is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Legislature Enacts Section 26 of 2017 Act 369

In December 2018, the Legislature enacted Section 26 of 2017 Act 369, which renumbered Wis. Stat. § 165.08 to Wis. Stat. § 165.08(1) and amended that provision to ensure that the Legislature had a seat at the table in certain settlements of plaintiff-side civil actions.

Before Section 26, Wis. Stat. § 165.08 provided that "[a]ny civil action prosecuted by the [Attorney General³] by direction of any officer, department, board or commission, shall be compromised or discontinued when so directed by such officer, department, board or commission." *Id.* § 165.08

² In addition to the Legislature, Defendants are the Legislature's Joint Committee on Finance, as well as Chris Kapenga, Devin LeMahieu, Robin Vos, Jim Steineke, Howard L. Marklein, Mark Born, Duey Stroebel and Amy Loudenbeck, all in their official capacities as members of the Legislature. This Brief refers to all Defendants collectively as "the Legislature."

³ This Brief refers to statutes that mention the "Department of Justice" as "Attorney General." *See Burkes v. Klauser*, 185 Wis. 2d 308, 322, 517 N.W.2d 503 (1994) ("The Attorney General is head of the Department of Justice[.]").

(2017). Civil actions prosecuted "on the initiative of the attorney general, or at the request of any individual may be compromised or discontinued with the approval of the governor." *Id.* Accordingly, before Section 26, the Attorney General did not give the Legislature a seat at the table in plaintiff-side settlements.

Section 26 remedied this by providing that "[a]ny civil action prosecuted by the [Attorney General] . . . may be compromised or discontinued . . . by submission of a proposed plan to the joint committee on finance [4] for the approval of the committee. The compromise or discontinuance may occur only if the joint committee on finance approves the proposed plan." Wis. Stat. § 165.08(1). Section 26 thus requires the Attorney General to obtain the Joint Committee's consent before he may "compromise[] or discontinue[]" a case that he is prosecuting (except in circumstances, not relevant here, when the Legislature is a party to the case). *Id*.

B. SEIU Holds That Section 26 Is Facially Valid

In SEIU, the Supreme Court addressed in relevant part a facial separation-of-powers challenge to Section 26. 2020 WI 67, ¶¶ 5, 50–71. In that case, private plaintiffs, alongside the Governor and Attorney General (who also are Plaintiffs here, and were nominal defendants in SEIU), asserted that

⁴ The Legislature's Joint Committee on Finance is a standing committee of the Wisconsin Legislature, *see* Wis. Stat. § 13.09, and this Brief will hereinafter refer to it as the "Joint Committee."

Section 26 "takes a core executive power and gives it to the [L]egislature in violation of the separation of powers." Id. ¶¶ 18–19, 55. The Governor and Attorney General argued that the requirement of seeking legislative approval before settling certain actions "impermissibly limits the governor's duty to take care that the laws be faithfully executed," and "substantially burden[s] the executive branch." Id. ¶ 55 (citation omitted).

Before addressing these arguments, the majority of the Supreme Court in SEIU first discussed the separation-ofpowers principles and the standards governing facial, hybrid, and as-applied challenges. *Id.* ¶¶ 30–49. Relying upon *Gabler* v. Crime Victims Rights Board, 2017 WI 67, 376 Wis. 2d 147, 897 N.W.2d 384, the Court observed that a statutory challenge could include "characteristics of both a facial and an as-applied claim." SEIU, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 45. This "hybrid" challenge is one that "is not limited to plaintiffs' particular case," but instead "challenges application[s] of the law more broadly." Gabler, 2017 WI 67, ¶ 28 (citation omitted). Of particular relevance here, the Court explained that, for such a hybrid challenge, the party "is still required to demonstrate that, as to the specific category of applications, the statute could not be constitutionally enforced under circumstances." SEIU, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 45. With these principles in mind, the Court held that the challenge brought by the plaintiffs was a facial one that required them to satisfy the same burden as that of a hybrid challenge—the burden to

prove that Section 26 "may not be constitutionally applied under any circumstances." Id. ¶ 72.

The SEIU majority then held that Section 26 was facially valid, as plaintiffs failed to meet their burden under Id.the facial-challenge standard. The *SEIU* majority explained that "[w]hile representing the State in litigation is predominantly an executive function, it is within those borderlands of shared powers" between the Legislature and the Attorney General/Governor, "most notably in cases that implicate an institutional interest of the [L]egislature." Id. SEIU then offered as examples two "institutional ¶ 63. interests" of the Legislature that were "sufficient to defeat the facial challenge" to Section 26. Id. ¶¶ 64–71. The first interest "is reflected in the statutory language authorizing the attorney general to represent the State or state officials," id. ¶ 64, and the second is "where the power of the purse is implicated," id. ¶¶ 68–69 (citing Wis. Const. art. VIII, § 2). These two interests are non-exhaustive, as "the [L]egislature may have other valid institutional interests." *Id.* ¶ 73. So, SEIU explained, while Section 26 had removed the "unilateral power" that the Attorney General had under prior law "to settle litigation impacting the State as he thought in the best interest of the State," id. ¶¶ 52–53, that hitherto unilateral power was not—"at least in all circumstances[—]within the exclusive zone of executive authority," id. ¶ 63. Thus, because "there are constitutional applications" of Section 26, the plaintiffs' "challenge cannot succeed." *Id.* ¶ 72.

Justice Dallet dissented in relevant part, joined by Justice Ann Walsh Bradley. In the dissent's view, Section 26 "plausibly . . . violates our constitutional separation of powers because it unduly burdens and substantially interferes with executive power." Id. ¶¶ 164, 187 (Dallet, J., dissenting in part). Unlike the SEIU majority's "functionalist approach," Justice Dallet explained that she would have applied a "formal[ist]" view of the separation of powers that "vigorously appl[ies] the limiting principle in [the Court's] shared-power analysis: the exercise of shared power cannot unduly burden or substantially interfere with a coequal branch's function." Id. ¶ 169. Using that approach, the dissent explained that Section 26 plausibly "violate[s] the separation-of-powers doctrine because [it] effectively eliminate[s] executive power to settle civil litigation by enacting an overriding legislative veto." Id. ¶ 170. Further, the dissent stated, "the legislature does not have a constitutionally-vested institutional interest as a represented party in civil litigation resolution," id. ¶ 173, and its "control of the purse strings . . . cannot be read so broadly that it allows the legislature to curtail the functions of another branch even in an area of shared authority," id. ¶ 175.

After the Supreme Court's decision in *SEIU*, the Circuit Court entered a final judgment based on the parties' consent, which adjudged that "Act 369, Section[] 26...[is] not facially unconstitutional... without prejudice and without costs," as

to "any potential claims that those sections of Act 369 are unconstitutional as applied." App'x 213, 217–18.

C. The Joint Committee On Finance Consistently Fulfilled Its Responsibilities Under Section 26 In A Respectful, Timely Manner

Under Section 26, the Attorney General must submit proposed settlements to the Joint Committee. Wis. Stat. § 165.08(1). On numerous occasions, the Joint Committee has demonstrated its willingness and ability cooperatively with the Attorney General to comply with Section 26 by creating a streamlined settlement-approval process. See generally Wis. Stat. § 13.10; see also App'x 127, 140. To facilitate this process under Wis. Stat. § 165.08(1), the Joint Committee asked that the Attorney General complete a "checklist" of information that would help the Joint Committee determine whether to approve a proposed settlement and whether expedited action was required. Yet, in response, the Attorney General refused to use the checklist when submitting proposed settlements. See App'x 126, 144-45, 147–48, 183.

Notwithstanding the Attorney General's intransigence, the Joint Committee has expeditiously and unanimously approved many settlements following the Attorney General's submission of a memorandum summarizing the proposed settlement and case status. *See* App'x 485–86; 499–540.

In contrast, the Attorney General has repeatedly stymied the settlement approval process by obfuscating the nature (or existence) of potential compromises and refusing to disclose basic information necessary for the Joint Committee to fulfill its statutory duties. *See* App'x 126–27, 141–51.

As the record below shows, the Joint Committee has acted as quickly as necessary to approve settlement when the Attorney General provides it with certain, minimal information about the settlement. Upon receiving a settlement request from the Attorney General, the Joint Committee can meet according to the default procedures in Wis. Stat. § 13.10, which call for quarterly meetings, or as necessary if more speed is needed. App'x 142, 145. The Joint Committee has also expedited its consideration where the Attorney General presented a time-sensitive request and takes prompt action consistent with a claimed exigency. *Id.* Indeed, in its review of every proposed at 145–46, 183. settlement properly presented to the Joint Committee to date, the Joint Committee has demonstrated its ability to work cooperatively and effectively with the Attorney General to timely approve settlements. App'x 145.5 For example, on

⁵ See also App'x 542–43 (email noting an "urgent [settlement] request" which was a "very urgent matter" delivered on August 23, 2019, indicating a decision was needed by August 30, and Legislature responds that the Joint Committee would meet to consider it on August 27—a mere four days after receipt of the initial request); App'x 546 (email from the Joint Committee co-chairs to Charlotte Gibson stating: "You informed us late Friday afternoon that the Attorney General requested the committee

Page 14 of 52

September 30, 2019, the Attorney General requested that the Joint Committee approve a proposed settlement by November 1, 2019, in Wis. Dep't of Agric., Trade, and Consumer Prot. v. Hampton Ave. Grp. LLC, No. 2017CX1 (Wis. Cir. Ct. Milwaukee Cnty.), while supplying the committee with the requisite information, App'x 401. Then, the Joint Committee subsequently met and approved the settlement before that deadline. Id.; App'x 485–86 (unanimous Joint Committee approval of settlement in Wis. Dep't of Agric., Trade & Consumer Prot. v. Hampton Ave. Grp. LLC, No. 2017CX1 (Wis. Cir. Ct. Milwaukee Cnty.) during § 13.10 meeting on Oct. 31, 2019).

In contrast, the Attorney General has repeatedly hindered the Section 26 process, demonstrating a lack of transparency and raising meritless confidentiality objections. Thus, the Attorney General has thwarted the approval of settlements by misrepresenting the nature (or existence) of potential compromises and refusing to divulge basic information necessary for the Joint Committee to fulfill its statutory duties. See App'x 126–27, 141–51. Further, the

meet to review a case. With extremely sparse details, on the Attorney General's word, we scheduled a committee hearing within two business days of your request."); App'x 385 (agreeing "that is true, yes[,]" that the Joint Committee at times convened "with notice as little as two business days when the DOJ has requested a hearing on an urgent or time-sensitive request"); accord id. at 380–81 (scheduling Joint Committee meeting and approving opioid settlement under Section 165.12 within approximately four business days over a holiday weekend); App'x 493–98 (reflecting unanimous Joint Committee approval of the same opioid settlement agreement).

Attorney General has refused to accept the Joint Committee's numerous options to assuage any legitimate confidentiality concerns. As an initial matter, communications between the Attorney General and the Joint Committee about proposed settlements are protected by attorney-client privilege as a matter of law, and the Joint Committee is permitted to meet in closed session to consider settlement proposals. App'x 128– 29, 142-43. Further, and notwithstanding this well-settled the Committee's principle, Joint counsel signed confidentiality agreement on behalf of the Joint Committee. App'x 129–30, 143–44; see also App'x 549–51. Under this signed agreement, the Attorney General would share confidential information with the Joint Committee's counsel, who would, in turn, share that information only with the Joint Committee members who agreed to be bound by the Id.Finally, as another step to ensure agreement. confidentiality, in certain cases the Attorney General simply requested permission from the opposing party to reveal the terms of the settlement to the Joint Committee. App'x 130-32. This occurred, for example, in the proposed settlement discussed above in Wisc. Dep't of Agric., Trade, and Consumer Prot. v. Hampton Ave. Grp. LLC, No. 2017CX1 (Wis. Cir. Ct. Milwaukee Cnty.). In that case, the Attorney General requested and received approval from the settlement counterparty to share the settlement offer with the Joint Committee and provided basic information about the case and the proposed settlement. See App'x 482–84. After receiving this information, the Joint Committee promptly met and unanimously approved this settlement. App'x 401–02.

D. Procedural History

1. On June 8, 2021, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint with the Dane County Circuit Court, alleging that Section 26 violates the constitutional separation of powers with respect to two categories: "(1) civil enforcement actions brought under statutes that the Attorney General is charged with enforcing, such as environmental or consumer protection laws; and (2) civil actions the Department [of Justice] prosecutes on behalf of executive-branch agencies relating the administration of the statutory programs they execute, such as common law tort and breach of contract actions." R.11 at 8. These two "categories" have substantial breadth, covering almost all of Section 26's applications. Indeed, even at the conclusion of the proceedings below, Plaintiffs still could not identify any actual settlement arising during the three years of Section 26's operation falling outside of these two categories. Compare R.137 at 5, 12–13, and R.148 at 6, with R.144 at 22–23. Plaintiffs moved for a temporary injunction the same day that they filed their Complaint, see R.13, although they later withdrew that motion, see R.44.

On July 8, 2021, Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint. *See generally* R.26–27. On September 10, 2021, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. R.48. After the Legislature

filed a petition for leave to appeal the Order, this Court issued an Order denying the petition on November 1, 2021. Dkt. Entry 11-01-2021, *Kaul v. Wis. State* Legislature, No.2021AP1674-LV (Ct. App. Oct. 8, 2021).

parties subsequently engaged in extensive discovery. The parties answered written discovery requests and produced documents demonstrating that, contrary to Plaintiffs' allegations, the Joint Committee addressed and unanimously approved proposed settlements with the appropriate dispatch. See, e.g., App'x 127, 145, 477–81. Corey F. Finkelmeyer, Deputy Administrator for the Division of Legal Services for the Attorney General, admitted as much during his lengthy deposition. Under questioning, Mr. Finkelmeyer conceded that the Joint Committee had convened "with notice as little as two business days when the DOJ ha[d] requested a hearing on any urgent or timerequest." More sensitive App'x 385. broadly, Mr. Finkelmeyer was unable to identify even a single instance in which the Joint Committee, faced with a time-sensitive request for a hearing to be held by a particular date, failed to hold a hearing by the date requested. App'x 386. Indeed, Mr. Finkelmeyer could not offer a single specific case where Section 26 harmed Plaintiffs in any concrete way. So, for example, counsel for the Legislature asked Mr. Finkelmeyer whether Section 26 had ever prohibited the Department from entering into consent judgments in multistate actions, in the "three years since Act 369 was enacted," to which he replied:

As I sit here right now, I don't believe so I don't recall, but I would like to—if I may, I'd like to think about that, and I would certainly get back to you [B]ut as I'm sitting here thinking about [it] in a general way, I cannot recall one.

App'x 395–96. (Mr. Finkelmeyer never "g[o]t back to" the Legislature with this information.) Further, at his deposition, Mr. Finkelmeyer could only speak generally about how Section 26 has allegedly "infused . . . the whole process as [the Department of Justice] handle[s] a matter in any case," without ever identifying "explicitly in a particular case." App'x 389; see also App'x 389–93, 395–96, 398, 412.

Plaintiffs filed their Motion For Summary Judgment on December 29, 2021, incorporating in large part their previous arguments in support of their withdrawn motion for a temporary injunction. See generally R.71–72. Plaintiffs argued that Wis. Stat. § 165.08(1), as applied to their two categories of cases—(1) civil enforcement actions, such as environmental or consumer protection actions, and (2) civil actions on behalf of executive branch agencies relating to programs they administer by statute—unconstitutionally transfers core executive power over settlements to the legislative branch. R.72 at 16–35. Plaintiffs also argued, in the alternative, that even assuming settlements of these plaintiff-side civil actions constitute a shared power, the Legislature's veto power under Wis. Stat. § 165.08(1) unduly burdens the executive branch's ability to exercise its constitutional power. R.72 at 36–39.

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