Filed 01-09-2023

Page 1 of 51

FILED 01-09-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2022AP790

JOSH KAUL, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, TONY EVERS and KATHY KOLTIN BLUMENFELD,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN STATE LEGISLATURE, WISCONSIN STATE LEGISLATURE JOINT COMMITTEE ON FINANCE, CHRIS KAPENGA, DEVIN LEMAHIEU, ROBIN VOS, TYLER AUGUST, HOWARD L. MARKLEIN, MARK BORN, DUEY STROEBEL and AMY LOUDENBECK,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDERS OF THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SUSAN M. CRAWFORD, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

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

ARGUMENT

I. As applied to the two challenged categories of actions, section 165.08(1) unconstitutionally transfers core executive power to the legislative branch.

Through Act 369's amendment to section 165.08, the Legislature unconstitutionally usurped the Executive Branch's core power to execute the law through settlement in (1) civil enforcement actions and (2) civil actions on behalf of executive branch agencies relating to programs they administer. Neither *SEIU* nor the Wisconsin Constitution sets forth any shared role for the Legislature in these particular categories.

A. Separation of powers prevents one branch of government from intruding upon a core power of another branch.

The Wisconsin Constitution vests power in three separate governmental branches. Wis. Const. art. IV, § 1, art. V, § 1, art. VII, § 2. Each branch has exclusive—"core" constitutional powers, which constitute zones of authority into which no other branch may intrude. *State v. Horn*, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 643, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999).

"Any exercise of authority by another branch" in an area of core power "is unconstitutional." *Tetra Tech EC, Inc.* v. DOR, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 48, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21 (citation omitted). "Core zones of authority" "are to be 'jealously guarded," as "[t]he state suffers essentially by every assault of one branch of government upon another." *Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶¶ 30–31 (citation omitted).

The "separation of powers principles . . . enshrined in the structure of the United States Constitution, inform our understanding of the separation of powers under the Wisconsin Constitution." *Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 11. Our Constitution, like the U.S. Constitution, "ensure[s] that each branch will act on its own behalf and free from improper influence by the others." *Id.* ¶ 32.

Because the Legislature writes the laws, the separation-of-powers doctrine is especially wary of the Legislature stripping away power from co-equal branches through legislation. As James Madison warned, the tremendous power inherent in writing laws leaves the Legislature with "greater facility" to "mask, under complicated and indirect measures, the encroachments which it makes on the co-ordinate departments." *Federalist* No. 48, at 310 (James Madison) (Clinton Rossiter ed., 1961).

The Framers and the Wisconsin Supreme Court understand the acute danger of the Legislature's taking the power to *execute* the law for itself—of the "same persons who have the power of making laws to have also in their hands the power to execute them." *Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 5 (quoting John Locke, *The Second Treatise of Civil Government*, § 143).

A statute enacted by the Legislature violates separation of powers in categorical applications when it cannot be constitutionally enforced in any circumstances within those particular categories beyond a reasonable doubt. *Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 29.⁵

⁵ Section 165.08(1) is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt in these categories. But the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard and constitutionality presumption for constitutional challenges to statutes logically cannot apply in a co-equal branch's separation-of-powers challenge, as it elevates one branch over others. *See Morrison v. Olson*, 487 U.S. 654, 704 (1988) (Scalia, J. dissenting) (constitutionality-presumption "is not recited by the Court in th[is] [separation of powers] case because it does not apply"). The Executive Branch reserves its right to challenge that standard in the Wisconsin Supreme Court.

B. A core power is one that defines that branch's essential attributes. Historical practices further illustrate whether power is a core power.

"A branch's core powers are those that define its essential attributes." *SEIU*, 393 Wis. 2d 38, ¶ 104. "[T]he constitution itself constitutes the source. [A] core power is a power vested by the constitution that distinguishes that branch from the other two." *Id.* ¶ 104 n.15.

The Wisconsin Constitution vests legislative power in the Legislature, judicial power in the Judiciary, and executive power in the Executive. Wis. Const. art. IV, § 1, art. V, § 1, art. VII, § 2. The Attorney General is a "high constitutional executive officer" whose "duties consist in executing the law." *SEIU*, 393 Wis. 2d 38, ¶¶ 57, 60 (citation omitted); Wis. Const. art. VI, § 3. Both the Attorney General and state administrative agencies (including the Department) are "part of the executive branch" and carry out executive functions. *SEIU*, 393 Wis. 2d 38, ¶ 60.

If Wisconsin's "historical practices and laws" show that an encroaching branch has never had a role in the particular governmental arena, that further proves that the particular arena constitutes a core power of the encroached-upon branch. See, e.g., Barland v. Eau Claire Cnty., 216 Wis. 2d 560, 587, 757 N.W.2d 69 (1998); State ex rel. Fielder v. Wis. Senate, 155 Wis. 2d 94, 99–103, 454 N.W.2d 770 (1990); Friedrich v. Dane Cnty. Cir. Ct., 192 Wis. 2d 1, 20, 531 N.W.2d 32 (1995).

C. The separation-of-powers analysis requires a branch to articulate a constitutional role in the specific arena at issue.

The separation-of-powers analysis requires a branch to articulate a constitutional role in the *specific* arena at issue, not simply announce a general "interest" in a given area.

Friedrich is illustrative. There, the supreme court considered a separation-of-powers challenge to statutes ad litem and setting guardian special prosecutor compensation rates. 192 Wis. 2d at 531. It noted that though the Legislature "has power to enact legislation for the general welfare" and to allocate out governmental resources, that did not resolve whether the Legislature had a shared constitutional role in the *specific* constitutional arenas at issue: "compensation of guardians ad litem and special prosecutors." Id. at 16, 24. Moreover, "[t]hat both the legislative and judicial branches exercise power in the realm of compensating court-appointed counsel from public funds does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the two branches share this power." Id. at 20.

Similarly, in *Barland*, the supreme court rejected an argument that the Legislature had a constitutional interest in the specific arena of removing judicial assistants simply because it had a general interest in the broad "realm of staff and judicial administration." 216 Wis. 2d at 584.

D. Settlement of actions in the two categories here constitutes core executive power.

Settlement of actions in the two specific categories here constitutes core power of the Executive Branch because it involves enforcement of civil statutes and execution of programs that an Executive Branch agency is charged to carry out. Executive power is "power to execute or enforce the law as enacted," *SEIU*, 393 Wis. 2d 38, ¶ 1, and the ability to execute enacted law to address particular circumstances is *the* "essential attribute[]" of the Executive Branch. *Id.*, ¶ 104.

The distinction between legislative and executive power "has been described as the difference between the power to prescribe and the power to put something into effect." *SEIU*, 393 Wis. 2d 38, ¶ 95. Once the Legislature "makes its choice in enacting legislation," its participation generally "ends." *Bowsher v. Synar*, 478 U.S. 714, 733–34 (1986). The Legislature "can thereafter control the execution of its enactment only indirectly—by passing new legislation." *Id.*

1. Settlement of civil enforcement actions constitutes a core executive power.

Settling civil enforcement actions constitutes a core Executive Branch power in which the Legislature has no constitutional role.

The U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized the "quintessentially executive" nature of civil enforcement litigation and rejected encroachment of other branches into this particular arena.

In Buckley v. Valeo, the Court rejected legislative control over the Federal Election Commission. 424 U.S. 1 (1976). Because the FEC had "direct and wide ranging" civil enforcement power—including the authority to itself initiate civil actions—Congress could not appoint FEC commissioners. Id. at 111–12, 138–42. "[A] lawsuit is the ultimate remedy for a breach of the law, and it is to the President, and not to the Congress, that the Constitution entrusts the responsibility to 'take care that the Laws be faithfully executed." Id. (citation omitted).

In Seila Law LLC v. Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, the Court rejected Congress' ability to restrict the executive removal of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau director, stressing that the agency had "sole responsibility to administer 19 separate consumer-protection statutes that cover everything from credit cards and car payments to mortgages and student loans" and could "bring the coercive power of the state to bear on millions of private citizens and businesses, imposing even billion-dollar penalties through administrative adjudications and civil actions." 140 S. Ct. 2183, 2200–01. This "enforcement authority," including "the power to seek daunting monetary penalties against private parties," constituted a "quintessentially executive power." Id. at 2200 (emphasis added).⁶

In *Heckler v. Chaney*, the Court refused to allow judicial review of day-to-day decisions in civil enforcement actions because they rest on "complicated balancing of a number of factors which are peculiarly within [an executive agency's] expertise." 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985). These factors include "whether a violation has occurred," "whether agency resources are best spent on this violation or another, whether the agency is likely to succeed if it acts, whether the particular enforcement action requested best fits the agency's overall policies," and "whether the agency has enough resources to undertake the action at all." Id. The Court focused on the specific governmental power—prosecution of civil enforcement actions—and concluded the executive agency was "far better equipped . . . to deal with the many variables involved in the proper ordering of its priorities." Heckler, 470 U.S. at 831–32.

While the Wisconsin Supreme Court has not considered a law's impact on the executive's power to litigate civil enforcement matters specifically, it has agreed generally that "[l]egislative power, as distinguished from executive power, is the authority to make laws, but not to enforce them." *Koschkee v. Taylor*, 2019 WI 76, ¶ 11, 387 Wis. 2d 552, 929 N.W.2d 600 (citation omitted).

⁶ Similarly, in a challenge to a New Hampshire law requiring legislative permission for that state's attorney general to challenge the validity of a federal statute, even the New Hampshire legislature distinguished the separation-of-powers analysis for that type of litigation from the attorney general's power in handling civil enforcement cases. The legislature *conceded* that civil enforcement matters are executive core power. In re Opinion of Justices, 27 A.3d 859, 869–71 (N.H. 2011).

2. Settlement of executive-agency program-administration actions constitutes a core executive power.

Settlement of executive agency civil actions relating to programs they are charged to administer also constitutes a core executive power.

An agency's day-to-day job is a classic executive function: "to implement and carry out the mandate of the legislative enactments." DOR v. Nagle-Hart, Inc., 70 Wis. 2d 224, 226-27, 234 N.W.2d 350 (1975). "[W]hen an administrative agency acts . . . it is exercising executive power." SEIU, 393 Wis. 2d 38, ¶¶ 96–97. Executive lawimplementation includes exercising judgment and discretion in applying generally applicable law. See id. ¶ 96. That dayto-day discretion also includes the allocation of appropriated resources. In Chaffin v. Arkansas Game & Fish Comm'n, 757 S.W.2d 950, 953 (Ark. 1988), for example, the Arkansas Supreme Court held that the state legislature violated separation of powers by intruding into executive branch resource-allocation decisions, explaining that "[a]llocation of resources and establishment of priorities are the essence of management."

Part of an agency's administration of programs it manages involves the tool of plaintiff-side litigation. For example, the Department of Administration may sue a vendor that has breached a contract to purchase certain services for state agencies. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 16.705, 16.71, 16.72. That litigation, including settlement, demands the multi-factor cost-benefit analyses agencies use to "implement and carry out the mandate of . . . legislative enactments." *Nagle-Hart*, 70 Wis. 2d at 226–27.

3. Historical law and practices illustrate that settlement of these actions constitutes core executive power.

Wisconsin's historical laws and practices further confirm that settlement in these categories constitutes core executive functions. Since 1849, the Attorney General has exercised the executive powers traditionally held by a state's chief legal officer, including representing the State and its entities in and controlling the conduct of state litigation. *See* Wis. Rev. Stat. ch. 9, §§ 36–41 (1849). And critically, before Act 369, the Legislature *never* before in Wisconsin history had a role in controlling settlements of individual plaintiff-side actions in these categories.⁷ The glaring absence of any historical legislative role further proves that settlement in these categories constitutes core executive power. *Barland*, 216 Wis. 2d at 587.

E. Section 165.08(1) transfers core Executive Branch power of settling actions in these categories to the Legislature.

Through Act 369, the Legislature took for itself core Executive Branch power to resolve plaintiff-side litigation in these categories of civil actions. "Any" intrusion by the Legislature here is unconstitutional. *Joni B. v. State*, 202 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 549 N.W.2d 411 (1996). And the Legislature did not just put one foot across the line. It granted itself a complete veto over the Executive Branch's core power in these categories. And it subjected every proposed settlement to a legislative review process that is incompatible with the essential characteristics of executive power.

⁷ 1923 Session Laws, ch. 240, § 1; 1965 Session Laws, ch. 66, § 9; 1969 Session Laws, ch. 276, § 48; 2007 Wis. Act 20, § 2902; 2015 Wis. Act 55, § 3501p; 2017 Wis. Act 369, § 26.

1. The Legislature took for itself the Executive Branch's power to decide whether, when, and how to settle these categories of civil actions.

First, the Legislature empowered a legislative committee to substitute its judgment for that of the Executive Branch on whether, when, and how to settle these categories of civil action, thereby effectively imposing a legislative veto.

This case is on all fours with *Gabler*, where the supreme court struck as unconstitutional a statute authorizing the Crime Victim Rights Board to conduct disciplinary review, as applied to the category of judges. *See generally* 376 Wis. 2d 147. It explained that, while the co-equal branches have some shared interest in the area of victims' rights, the Judiciary has core power to exercise judicial judgment in cases. *Id.* ¶¶ 36–37, 41–43. A statute permitting a co-equal branch to discipline judges for discretionary exercises of that core authority "effectively impos[ed] an executive veto over discretionary judicial decision-making," and had to be struck down as unconstitutional. *Id.* ¶ 36.

The separation-of-powers violation here is even more stark. In *Gabler*, the Judiciary was initially able to exercise its core powers, but was subject to a *possible* retroactive coequal branch veto. That mere possibility, "lurk[ing] in the background of every case," violated separation of powers because of the chilling effect on judicial independence and potential to alter judicial decision-making "incentive[s]." *Id.* ¶ 44. Here, section 165.08(1) *requires* legislative approval before the Executive Branch may exercise its core executive power of settling these categories of actions.

Gabler also rebuts the Legislature's effort to advance a new standard for categorical constitutional challenges. The Legislature argues that if a single moment exists within these categories where the encroaching branch (here, itself) has not actively utilized or exploited its illegal power, the encroachedupon branch (here, the Executive Branch) has not shown that the statute cannot be constitutionally enforced in that category "under any circumstances." (Leg. Br. 9–10, 25–26, 30-34, 45–46.) But that is plainly not *Gabler*'s holding, where the court concluded that the law was unconstitutional because the law gave the Board the *power* to do those things in every case within the category—even if the Board did not always or even often exercise it. 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶¶ 27–50.

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